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not in conflict with Padilla-Diaz. We are
therefore bound by Padilla-Diaz’s conclu-
sion regarding the interplay between the
Guidelines policy statement contained in
§ 1B1.10(b)(2) and § 3582(c)(2).

III

As Padilla-Diaz remains binding circuit
precedent, defendants’ various arguments
on appeal are foreclosed.” We affirm the
district courts’ denials of the motions for
sentence reduction under § 3582(c)(2).

AFFIRMED.
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Ninth Inning, Inc., dba The Mucky
Duck; 1465 Third Avenue Restaurant
Corp., dba Gael Pub; Robert Gary Lip-
pincott, Jr.; Michael Holinko, an indi-
vidual, for himself and all others simi-
larly situated, Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

DirecTV, LLC; DirecTV Holdings, LLC;
National Football League, Inc.; NFL
Enterprises, LLC; Arizona Cardinals,
Inc.; Atlanta Falcons Football Club
LLC; Baltimore Ravens, LP; Buffalo
Bills, Inc.; Panthers Football, LLC;
Chicago Bears Football Club, Inc.;
Cincinnati Bengals, Inc.; Cleveland
Browns, LLC; Dallas Cowboys Foot-
ball Club, Ltd.; Detroit Lions, Inc.;
Green Bay Packers, Inc.; Houston
NFL Holdings, LP; Indianapolis
Colts, Inc.; Jacksonville Jaguars, Ltd.;
Kansas City Chiefs Football Club,

9. Defendants also argue for reconsideration
of the equal protection argument raised in
Padilla-Diaz. Because Padilla-Diaz already re-
jected the argument, see 862 F.3d at 862, and
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Inc.; Miami Dolphins, Ltd.; Minnesota
Vikings Football Club, LLC; New
England Patriots, LP; New Orleans
Louisiana Saints, LLC; New York
Football Giants, Inc.; New York Jets
Football Club, Inc.; Oakland Raiders,
LP; Philadelphia Eagles Football
Club, Inc.; Pittsburgh Steelers Sports,
Inc.; San Diego Chargers Football Co.;
San Francisco Forty Niners, Ltd.; the
Rams Football Company, LLC; Buc-
caneers, LP; Tennessee Football, Inc.;
Washington Football, Inc.; Football
Northwest LLC; Denver Broncos
Football Club, Defendants-Appellees.
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Background: Putative class of residential
and commercial subscribers of bundled
package of National Football League
(NFL) games, exclusively available to sub-
scribers of satellite television service,
brought antitrust action against NFL,
football teams, and satellite television ser-
vice, alleging that the defendants’ inter-
locking agreements worked together to
suppress competition for the sale of NFL
telecasts in violation of the Sherman Act.
The United States District Court for the
Central District of California, No. 2:15-ml-
02668-BRO-JEM, Beverly Reid O’Connell,
J., 2017 WL 3084276, granted defendants’
motion to dismiss. Subscribers appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Ikuta,
Circuit Judge, held that:

remains binding circuit precedent, defen-
dants’ equal protection argument is also fore-
closed.
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(1) subscribers adequately alleged an inju-
ry to competition by interlocking
agreements between NFL, football
teams, and service, as required to state
a claim under section of the Sherman
Act prohibiting anticompetitive agree-
ments;

2

~

subscribers plausibly alleged that such
agreements imposed a “naked re-
straint” on output, and thus, they were
not required to allege a relevant mar-
ket in which defendants had market
power, in order to state a claim under
section of the Sherman Act prohibiting
anticompetitive agreements;

6

=

subscribers plausibly alleged standing
to bring claim under section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements; and

(4) subscribers plausibly alleged that NFL,
teams, and service conspired to monop-
olize the market for professional foot-
ball telecasts and monopolized it, in
violation of the Sherman Act.

Reversed.
Smith, Circuit Judge, filed an opinion dis-
senting in part.
1. Antitrust and Trade
&=604

In passing the Sports Broadcasting
Act, Congress recognized that agreements
among league members to sell television
rights in a cooperative fashion could run
afoul of the Sherman Act, and that there-
fore an exemption from section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompetitive

Regulation

agreements was required. 15 U.S.C.A.

§§ 1, 1291.

2. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&=604

The Sports Broadcasting Act does not
exempt league contracts with cable or sat-
ellite television services, for which sub-
scribers are charged a fee, from antitrust

liability under the Sherman Act. 15

U.S.C.A. §§ 1, 1291.

3. Federal Courts €=3587(1)
Court of Appeals reviews a district
court’s grant of a motion to dismiss for

failure to state a claim de novo. Fed. R.
Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

4. Federal Courts €=3667

When reviewing a district court’s
grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to
state a claim, Court of Appeals takes all
allegations of material fact as true and
construes them in the light most favorable
to the nonmoving party. Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6).

5. Federal Civil Procedure &=1772
Conclusory allegations of law and un-
warranted inferences are insufficient to

avoid dismissal for failure to state a claim.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

6. Antitrust and Trade

&=535

Court determines whether a particu-
lar restraint of trade is unreasonable and
thus a violation of section of the Sherman
Act prohibiting anticompetitive agree-
ments under the so-called “rule of reason”;
under this rule, the court examines the
facts peculiar to the business, the history
of the restraint, and the reasons why it
was imposed, to determine the effect on
competition in the relevant product mar-
ket. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.CA. § 1.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

Regulation

7. Antitrust and Trade
&=540, 822

Under antitrust law, some restraints
of trade, such as horizontal agreements
among competitors to fix prices, restrict
output, and divide markets, are generally
deemed to be per se unreasonable, and
therefore it is unnecessary to apply the

Regulation
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rule of reason in order to determine
whether such agreements violate section of
the Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements. Sherman Act § 1, 15
US.C.A.§ 1.

8. Antitrust
€604
When considering agreements among
entities involved in league sports under
section of the Sherman Act prohibiting
anticompetitive agreements, a court must
determine whether the restriction is un-
reasonable under the rule of reason.
Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

9. Antitrust and Trade
&=537

In order to state a claim for violation
of section of the Sherman Act prohibiting
anticompetitive agreements under the rule
of reason, plaintiffs must plead facts which,
if true, will prove: (1) a contract, combina-
tion or conspiracy among two or more
persons or distinct business entities, (2) by
which the persons or entities intended to
harm or restrain trade or commerce
among the several States, or with foreign
nations, (3) which actually injures competi-
tion, and additionally, the plaintiffs must
plead antitrust standing, meaning they
must allege that (4) they are the proper
parties to bring the antitrust action be-
cause they were harmed by the defen-
dants’ contract, combination, or conspira-
cy, and the harm they suffered was caused
by the anti-competitive aspect of the de-
fendants’ conduct. Sherman Act § 1, 15

and Trade Regulation

Regulation

US.CA. §1.
10. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&>972(3)

In order to adequately allege that a
restraint on trade injures competition, as
required to state a claim under section of
the Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements, the plaintiffs must identi-
fy a harm that is attributable to an anti-
competitive aspect of the practice under

933 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES

scrutiny. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1.

11. Antitrust and Trade
&>963(2)

A harm that could have occurred un-
der the normal circumstances of free com-
petition fails to satisfy requirement of a
claim under section of the Sherman Act
prohibiting anticompetitive agreements
that the harm must be attributable to an
anticompetitive aspect of the practice un-
der scrutiny. Sherman Act § 1, 15

Regulation

US.CA.§ 1.
12. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&=540

An agreement between competitors,
ie., a horizontal agreement, shows injury
to competition, as required to state a claim
under section of the Sherman Act prohibit-
ing anticompetitive agreements, if it re-
duces competitors’ independent decisions
about whether and how often to offer to
provide services, or fixes prices, or other-
wise limits competitors’ freedom to com-
pete. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

13. Antitrust and Trade
=641

In order to show that an agreement
injures competition, as required to state a
claim under section of the Sherman Act
prohibiting anticompetitive agreements, a
plaintiff must generally show that the de-
fendants have market power within a rele-
vant market, meaning that the defendants
have the ability to raise prices above those
that would be charged in a competitive

Regulation

market. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A.

§ 1.

14. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
€=972(3)

Plaintiffs can show that a restraint
injures competition, as required to state a
claim under section of the Sherman Act
prohibiting anticompetitive agreements, if
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they plausibly allege a naked restriction on
price or output, such as an agreement not
to compete in terms of price or output.
Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

15. Antitrust and Trade
=541

An agreement between companies at
different levels of a supply chain, ie., a
vertical agreement, may injure competi-
tion, as for a claim under section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompetitive
agreements, if it facilitates horizontal col-
lusion. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

16. Antitrust and Trade
604

Subscribers of bundled package of
National Football League (NFL) games,
exclusively available to subscribers of sat-
ellite television service, adequately alleged
an injury to competition by interlocking
agreements between NFL, football teams,
and service, as required to state a claim
under section of the Sherman Act prohibit-
ing anticompetitive agreements; subscrib-
ers alleged that agreements restricted the
number of telecasts made to a single tele-
cast for each game, that no team was
permitted to sell its telecasting rights in-
dependently, that teams voted to approve
contract between NFL and service, and
that agreements restrained the production
and sale of telecasts in a manner that
constituted a naked restriction on the
number of telecasts available for broad-
casters and consumers. Sherman Act § 1,
15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

17. Antitrust and Trade
&979

When analyzing whether interlocking
horizontal and vertical agreements injure
competition, on a claim under section of
the Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements, the court is required to
take a holistic look at how the interlocking
agreements actually impact competition.
Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

Regulation
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18. Antitrust and Trade
&=977(2)

The essential inquiry when consider-
ing how agreements actually impact com-
petition, on a claim under section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompetitive
agreements, is whether or not the chal-
lenged restraint enhances competition,
which is assessed by considering the totali-
ty of the nature or character of the con-
tracts. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

19. Antitrust and Trade
&=537

When considering how agreements
impact competition, on a claim under sec-
tion of the Sherman Act prohibiting anti-
competitive agreements, the law requires
that the character and effect of a conspira-
cy are not to be judged by dismembering
it and viewing its separate parts, but only
by looking at it as a whole. Sherman Act
§1,15 US.CA. § 1.

20. Antitrust and Trade
&=977(1)

When considering how agreements
impact competition, on a claim under sec-
tion of the Sherman Act prohibiting anti-
competitive agreements, the court must
give plaintiffs the full benefit of their proof
without tightly compartmentalizing the
various factual components and wiping the
slate clean after scrutiny of each. Sher-
man Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

21. Antitrust and Trade
&=604

Court could view the effects of agree-
ment between National Football League
(NFL) and satellite television service to-
gether with agreement between football
teams, on claim brought by subscribers of
bundled package of NFL games, exclu-
sively available to subscribers of satellite
television service, under section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompetitive
agreements; subscribers alleged that verti-

Regulation
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cal agreement between NFL and service
to allow service to obtain all of the live
telecasts produced by broadcast networks,
package those telecasts, and deliver the
bundled feeds to subsecribers, worked in
tandem with horizontal agreement be-
tween the teams to pool their telecasting
rights and give NFL the authority to ex-
ercise those rights, to restrain competi-
tion. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

22. Antitrust and Trade
&=604

Production of telecasts of National
Football League’s (NFL) games did not
necessarily require joint action, for pur-
poses of claim under section of the Sher-
man Act prohibiting anticompetitive agree-
ments brought by subscribers of bundled
package of NFL games, exclusively avail-
able to subscribers of service; in the ab-
sence of a legal requirement that teams,
NFL, and broadeasters coordinate in film-
ing and broadcasting live games, a team
could contract for their own telecast of
their games and then register the telecasts
for those games with the team and per-
haps the team against whom they were
playing, and only the agreements that
were the subject of subscribers’ antitrust
action prevented such independent actions.
Sherman Act § 1,15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

23. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
&12(2)

National Football League (NFL)
games underlying satellite television ser-
vice bundled packages are not copyrighta-
ble subject matter. 17 U.S.C.A. § 102(a).

24. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
&=10.1
Telecasts of sporting events are plain-
ly copyrightable “motion pictures” under
the Copyright Act of 1976. 17 U.S.C.A.
§ 102(a)(6).
See publication Words and Phrases

for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

Regulation
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25. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
&=41(1)

Under general copyright law, copy-
right ownership vests initially in the au-
thor of the work who, as a general rule, is
the party who actually creates the work,
that is, the person who translates an idea
into a fixed, tangible expression entitled to
copyright  protection. 17  U.S.CA.
§ 201(a).

26. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
&=41(1)

In the absence of an agreement other-
wise, the person or company that creates
the telecast is the “author” of the telecast
for the purposes of copyright law. 17
U.S.C.A. § 201(a).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

27. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
&=41(1)

Assuming that the general rule that
the person or company that creates a tele-
cast is the author of the telecast for pur-
poses of copyright law applies in the
league sports setting, the team or network
that creates the telecasts would be the sole
owner of the copyright in the telecasts,
absent some agreement to the contrary.
17 U.S.C.A. § 201(a).

28. Antitrust and Trade
&=972(3)

Fact that every regular season Na-
tional Football League (NFL) game was
broadcast over free television in some geo-
graphic area did not preclude subscribers
of bundled package of NFL games from
showing injury to competition by agree-
ments between NFL, teams, and service,
as required to state a claim under section
of the Sherman Act prohibiting anticom-
petitive agreements; subscribers alleged
that defendants limited output by restrict-
ing the quantity of telecasts available for

Regulation
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sale, that NFL set a uniform quantity of
telecasts of football games with no regard
to the actual consumer demand for the
telecasts, and that if teams could sell tele-
vision rights, many more games would be
shown because each team could sell the
right to televise its games for whatever
price it could get. Sherman Act § 1, 15

US.CA.§ 1.
29. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&>972(3)

Subscribers of bundled package of
National Football League (NFL) games,
exclusively available to subscribers of sat-
ellite television service, plausibly alleged
that interlocking agreements between
NFL, teams, and service imposed a “naked
restraint” on output, and thus, they were
not required to allege a relevant market in
which defendants had market power, in
order to state a claim under section of the
Sherman Act prohibiting anticompetitive
agreements; professional football games
had no substitutes, as fans did not consider
NFL games to be comparable to other
sports or forms of entertainment, and
thus, defendants had effective control over
the entire market for telecasts of profes-
sional football games. Sherman Act § 1,
15 U.S.CAA. § 1.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

30. Antitrust and Trade
=821

When there is an agreement not to
compete in terms of output, no elaborate
industry analysis is required to demon-
strate the anticompetitive character of
such an agreement, on a claim under sec-
tion of the Sherman Act prohibiting anti-
competitive agreements. Sherman Act
§1,15US.CA. § 1.

31. Antitrust and Trade
&=972(5)

To plead antitrust standing or anti-

trust injury, plaintiffs must allege that

Regulation

Regulation

they were harmed by the injury to compe-
tition. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

32. Antitrust and Trade
&=963(2)

To prove antitrust standing, plaintiffs
must allege that their harm was caused

Regulation

directly by the antitrust violator. Sher-
man Act § 1,15 U.S.C.A. § 1.
33. Antitrust and Trade Regulation

2967

Indirect purchasers who are two or
more steps removed from an antitrust vio-
lator in a distribution chain may not sue;
to illustrate, under this rule, if manufactur-
er A sells to retailer B, and retailer B sells
to consumer C, then C may not sue A,
however, C may sue B if B is an antitrust

violator. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A.

§ 1.

34. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&=967, 995

Indirect purchasers are not barred
from bringing an antitrust claim for in-
junctive relief against manufacturers.
Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

35. Antitrust and Trade
&972(4)

The general principles of proximate
cause applicable to claims under section of
the Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements apply differently when the
injury to plaintiffs is caused by a multi-
level conspiracy to violate antitrust laws.
Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

Regulation

36. Antitrust and Trade
=967

For purposes of standing to bring a
claim under section of the Sherman Act
prohibiting anticompetitive agreements, if
a direct purchaser conspires to fix the
price paid by the plaintiffs, then the plain-
tiffs pay the fixed price directly and are
not indirect purchasers, ie., there is no

Regulation
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pass-on theory involved. Sherman Act
§1,15US.CA. § 1.

37. Antitrust and Trade
€=963(2)

When co-conspirators have jointly
committed the antitrust violation, a plain-
tiff who is the immediate purchaser from
any of the conspirators is directly injured
by the violation, for purposes of standing
to bring a claim under section of the Sher-
man Act prohibiting anticompetitive agree-
ments. Sherman Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.

38. Antitrust and Trade
&=972(4)

Subscribers of bundled package of
National Football League (NFL) games,
exclusively available to subscribers of sat-
ellite television service, plausibly alleged
standing to bring claim under section of
the Sherman Act prohibiting anticompeti-
tive agreements against NFL, teams, and
service; although service was the immedi-
ate seller to subscribers, subscribers al-
leged that NFL, teams, and service en-
gaged in a single conspiracy to limit the
output of NFL’s telecasts, which in turn
resulted in prices for out-of-market games
being higher than they would be in the
absence of the conspiracy. Sherman Act
§1,15 US.CA. § 1.

39. Antitrust and Trade
=967

Co-conspirator exception to Illinois
Brick rule authorizing antitrust suits by
direct purchasers from antitrust violators
but not indirect purchasers, is not really
an exception at all, but rather describes a
situation in which Illinots Brick is simply
not applicable. Sherman Act § 1, 15

Regulation

Regulation
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US.CA.§ 1.
40. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
&=972(5)

When plaintiffs adequately allege that
their injury was caused by a conspiracy to
violate antitrust laws, even when the con-
spiracy involves multiple levels of produc-
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ers, distributors, and sales, the plaintiffs
sufficiently allege an antitrust injury that

can withstand a motion to dismiss. Sher-
man Act § 1, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1.
41. Antitrust and Trade Regulation

=821
Under the Sherman Act, an agree-
ment on output also equates to a price-
fixing agreement, because if firms raise
price, the market’s demand for their prod-
uct will fall, so the amount supplied will
fall too, in other words, output will be
restricted; on the other hand, if instead the
firms restrict output directly, price will as
mentioned rise in order to limit demand to
the reduced supply. Sherman Act § 1, 15

US.C.A.§1.

42. Antitrust and Trade
€965

A conspiracy between a cartel of
widget producers and their widget retailer
to set an artificially high price for widgets
is functionally the same as a conspiracy to
set an artificially low total output of widg-
ets, which causes prices to rise; therefore,
the consumer of widgets would be directly
injured by the antitrust violators at both
levels of the distribution chain and would
have standing to sue those co-conspirators
in both scenarios. Sherman Act § 1, 15

Regulation

US.CA.§1.
43. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
€620

To establish a conspiracy to monopo-
lize claim under the Sherman Act, plain-
tiffs must plead: (1) the existence of a
combination or conspiracy to monopolize,
(2) an overt act in furtherance of the con-
spiracy, (3) the specific intent to monopo-
lize, and (4) causal antitrust injury. Sher-
man Act § 2,15 U.S.C.A. § 2.

44. Antitrust and Trade
620

To plausibly plead a monopolization
claim under the Sherman Act, plaintiffs

Regulation
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must allege: (a) the possession of monopoly
power in the relevant market, (b) the will-
ful acquisition or maintenance of that pow-
er, and (c) causal antitrust injury. Sher-
man Act § 2, 15 U.S.C.A. § 2.

45. Antitrust and Trade
&*972(4)

Subscribers of bundled package of
National Football League (NFL) games,
exclusively available to subscribers of sat-
ellite television service, plausibly alleged
that NFL, teams, and service conspired to
monopolize the market for professional
football telecasts and monopolized it, in
violation of the Sherman Act; subscribers
adequately alleged injury to competition,
market power in the market for profes-
sional telecasts, and that interlocking
agreement between NFL and service to
allow service to obtain all of the live tele-
casts produced by broadcast networks,
package those telecasts, and deliver the
bundled feeds to subscribers, and agree-
ment between the teams to pool their tele-
casting rights and give NFL the authority
to exercise those rights, were designed to
maintain market power. Sherman Act § 2,
15 U.S.C.A. § 2.

Regulation

Appeal from the United States District
Court for the Central District of Califor-
nia, Beverly Reid O’Connell, District
Judge, Presiding, D.C. No. 2:15-ml-02668-
BRO-JEM

Marce M. Seltzer (argued), Susman God-
frey LLP, Los Angeles, California; Ed-
ward Diver, Howard Langer, and Peter E.
Leckman, Langer Grogan & Diver P.C,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Scott Martin,
Hausfeld LLP, New York, New York; for
Plaintiffs-Appellants.

Greg H. Levy (argued), Derek Ludwin,
John S. Playforth, and Sonia Lahr-Pastor,

* The Honorable George Caram Stech III, Unit-
ed States District Judge for the Eastern Dis-

Covington & Burling LLP, Washington,
D.C.; Beth A. Wilkinson, Wilkinson Walsh
& Eskovitz LLP, Washington, D.C.; Sean
Eskovitz, Wilkinson Walsh & Eskovitz
LLP, Los Angeles, California; for Defen-
dants-Appellees.

Craig C. Corbitt, Corbitt Law Office,
San Francisco, California, for Amici Curiae
Economists.

Before: Sandra S. Tkuta and N. Randy
Smith, Circuit Judges, and George Caram
Steeh III,* District Judge.

Opinion by Judge Ikuta; Dissent by
Judge N.R. Smith

OPINION
IKUTA, Circuit Judge:

Every Sunday during football season,
millions of National Football League
(NFL) fans tune in to watch their team
play. If they live in the same area as their
favorite team—such as Los Angeles Rams
fans who live in Los Angeles—they can
tune into their local Fox or CBS station to
enjoy their team’s game on free, over-the-
air television. But if NFL fans happen to
live far away from their favorite team—
such as Seattle Seahawks fans residing in
Los Angeles—they can watch every Sea-
hawks game only if they purchase Di-
recTV’s NFL Sunday Ticket, a bundled
package of all NFL games available exclu-
sively to subscribers of DirecTV’s satellite
television service.

The plaintiffs, a putative class of Sunday
Ticket subscribers, claim that this ar-
rangement harms NFL fans because it
eliminates competition in the market for
live telecasts of NFL games. Without this
arrangement restricting the televising of
NFL games, plaintiffs argue, the individu-
al teams would create multiple telecasts of

trict of Michigan, sitting by designation.
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each game and would compete against one
another by distributing telecasts of their
games through various cable, satellite, and
internet channels. We conclude that at this
preliminary stage, plaintiffs have stated a
cause of action for a violation of Sections 1
and 2 of the Sherman Act that survives a
motion to dismiss. We therefore reverse
the district court’s decision to the contrary.

I

To analyze the challenged arrangement
between the NFL teams, the NFL, and
DirecTV, it is necessary to understand the
history of television broadcasting of NFL
games. The NFL, an association of “sepa-
rately owned professional football teams,”
was formed in 1920. Am. Needle, Inc. v.
Nat’l Football League, 560 U.S. 183, 187,
130 S.Ct. 2201, 176 L.Ed.2d 947 (2010).
While the NFL had a rocky first two
decades, its teams gradually became suc-
cessful. See U.S. Football League v. Nat'l
Football League, 842 F.2d 1335, 1343 (2d
Cir. 1988). Indeed, by 1959, a majority of
NFL team owners felt that there was a
“growing interest in professional football
and the healthier financial condition of the
NFL teams.” Am. Football League v. Nat’l
Football League, 205 F. Supp. 60, 67 (D.
Md. 1962), aff’d, 323 F.2d 124 (4th Cir.

1. By this time, courts had agreed that sports
teams had a property interest in their games.
In Pittsburgh Athletic Co. v. KQV Broadcasting
Co., the leading case on this issue, a radio
station broadcast play-by-play descriptions of
the Pirates’ baseball games without the con-
sent of the team. 24 F. Supp. 490, 492 (W.D.
Pa. 1938). The Pirates sued to enjoin the
unauthorized broadcasts. Id. The district
court enjoined the radio station, holding that
the baseball team, “by reason of its creation
of the game, its control of the park, and its
restriction of the dissemination of news there-
from, has a property right in such news, and
the right to control the use thereof for a
reasonable time following the games.” Id.; see
Nat’'l Exhibition Co. v. Fass, 133 N.Y.S.2d
379, 380 (Sup. Ct. 1954) (enjoining the “de-
fendant from the unauthorized transmission,
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1963). And as professional football gained
popularity, so did the telecasts of its
games.

In the 1950s, the right to telecast NFL
games was “controlled by individual
teams,” which independently licensed the
telecasts of their games to television net-
works. U.S. Football League, 842 F.2d at
1346.! For example, in 1951, the “Dumont
network televised five regular season
games (twelve by 1954), as well as the
championship game each year.” Id. Addi-
tionally, in the mid-1950s, “the Columbia
Broadcasting System (‘CBS’) began broad-
casting certain NFL regular season games
for $1.8 million per year, and the National
Broadcasting Company (‘NBC’) acquired
the right to televise the NFL champion-
ship game.” Id.

Concerned that too much competition
between the teams in the market for
broadeast rights might drive some teams
out of business, the NFL amended its 1951
bylaws to address this issue. In Article X
of the bylaws, the NFL required each
NFL team to agree to minimize competi-
tion by refraining from telecasting its
games into another team’s local market
whenever that local team was either play-
ing at home or broadcasting its away game
in its local territory.? United States v.

subsequently broadcast, of detailed accounts
of games”); Sw. Broad. Co. v. Oil Ctr. Broad.
Co., 210 S.W.2d 230, 234 (Tex. Civ. App.
1947) (granting an injunction to prevent a
radio broadcaster from broadcasting play-by-
play accounts of football games); cf. Zacchini
v. Scripps-Howard Broad. Co., 433 U.S. 562,
575, 97 S.Ct. 2849, 53 L.Ed.2d 965 (1977)
(citing Pittsburgh Athletic Co., 24 F. Supp. at
490).

2. Article X would have prevented, for exam-
ple, the New England Patriots from broad-
casting their game against the Minnesota Vi-
kings within 75 miles of Washington, D.C.
when the Washington Redskins were either
(1) playing at home or (2) playing an away
game but telecasting that game in Washing-
ton, D.C. See NFL I, 116 F. Supp. at 325.
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Nat’l Football League, 116 F. Supp. 319,
321 (E.D. Pa. 1953) (NFL I).

In 1951, the Justice Department brought
suit in distriet court to enjoin enforecement
of Article X, alleging that it violated Sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act. Id. at 321. After
a bench trial, Judge Grim held that the
NFL could restrict the broadcast of dis-
tant games into home territories in order
to protect attendance for the local team’s
game without violating antitrust law. Id. at
325-26. Because “primarily all of NFL
revenues were derived from gate receipts,”
protecting live attendance at NFL games
was important to the league’s success.
H.R. Rep. No. 93-483 at 5 (1973), reprinted
in 1973 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2032, 2035; see NFL
I, 116 F. Supp. at 325. However, the NFL
could not restrict teams from broadcasting
their games into another team’s local mar-
ket when that team was playing away
games. NFL I, 116 F. Supp. at 326-2T7.
Such a restriction, Judge Grim held, would
be an impermissible restraint of trade that
violated the Sherman Act. Id. at 327.
Judge Grim therefore enjoined the NFL
teams from entering into a contract that
restricts “the sale of rights for the tele-
casting of outside games in club’s home
territory on a day when the home club is
permitting the telecast of its away game in
its home territory.” Id. at 330.

The NFL did not appeal the 1953 in-
junction imposed by NFL I, which re-
mained in force until Congress addressed
the issue. “For a number of years after the
1953 decision, the broadcasting practices of
the member clubs of the National Football
League stabilized.” H.R. Rep. No. 93-483
at 4 (1973). The individual NFL teams
competed against each other on the field
and in the market for telecasting rights.
Indeed, “[b]y the late 1950s, eleven indi-
vidual teams had signed contracts with the
Columbia Broadcasting System; two
teams—Baltimore and Pittsburgh—had
signed contracts with the National Broad-

casting Company; and one team—Cleve-
land—had organized its own network.” Id.

This changed when the NFL began to
face competition from its newly formed
rival, the American Football League
(AFL). While the NFL was precluded un-
der NFL I from restricting the sale of
telecasts, the AFL was not. Id. at 2034. As
a result, the AFL “entered into league-
wide television contracts,” id., and pooled
its television rights and revenues in a
broadcast contract with ABC, U.S. Foot-
ball League, 842 F.2d at 1346.

In light of this disparity with the AFL,
and out of concern “that the league’s com-
petitive balance on the field would eventu-
ally be destroyed if teams in major televi-
sion markets continued to sell their
broadecast rights individually,” in 1961, the
NFL teams also decided “to sell their col-
lective television rights as a single pack-
age and to share broadcast revenues
equally among all franchises.” Id. (quoting
the testimony of Commissioner Rozelle).
In 1961, the NFL filed a petition with
Judge Grim seeking to implement a new
television contract between the NFL and
CBS. United States v. Nat'l Football
League, 196 F. Supp. 445, 447 (E.D. Pa.
1961) (NFL II). Under the terms of the
NFL-CBS contract, the NFL teams
would pool their television rights in the
NFL and then the NFL would jointly sell
those rights to CBS. Id. at 446-47. Judge
Grim denied the petition, holding that the
proposed agreement violated the 1953 in-
junction because if the agreement went
into effect, “the member clubs of the
League [would] have eliminated competi-
tion among themselves in the sale of tele-
vision rights to their games.” Id. at 447.
Judge Grim therefore issued a second in-
junction (the 1961 injunction) enjoining
the implementation of the pooled rights
contract between NFL and CBS. Id.
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[1]1 Rather than appeal the 1961 in-
junction, the NFL sought Congressional
relief. In response to the NFL’s lobbying,
Congress passed the Sports Broadcasting
Act (SBA), which “was specifically de-
signed to establish parity between the Na-
tional Football League and the American
Football League.” H.R. Rep. No. 93-483 at
5 (1973). The SBA effectively overruled
NFL II, providing:

The antitrust laws, as defined in section

1 of the [Sherman] Act ... shall not

apply to any joint agreement by or

among persons engaging in or conduct-
ing the organized professional team
sports of football, baseball, basketball,
or hockey, by which any league of clubs
participating in professional football,
baseball, basketball, or hockey contests
sells or otherwise transfers all or any
part of the rights of such league’s mem-
ber clubs in the sponsored telecasting of
the games of football, baseball, basket-
ball, or hockey, as the case may be,
engaged in or conducted by such clubs.

15 U.S.C. § 1291. Thus, the SBA provides
a tailored exemption for “professional
team sports” to sell their rights to “spon-
sored telecasts” through a joint agree-
ment. Id. In passing the SBA, Congress
recognized “that agreements among league
members to sell television rights in a coop-
erative fashion could run afoul of the Sher-
man Act,” and that therefore an exemption
from Section 1 of the Sherman Act was
required. Nat’l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n v.
Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Oklahoma, 468
U.S. 85, 104 n.28, 104 S.Ct. 2948, 82
L.Ed.2d 70 (1984) (NCAA).

For the next 25 years, the NFL teams
pooled their telecasting rights to their
games and sold them as a single package
through free, over-the-air television. See In
the Matter of Implementation of Section
26 of the Cable Television Consumer Pro-
tection & Competition Act of 1992, 8
F.C.C. Red. 4875, 4879-80 (1993).
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Because the SBA applied only to profes-
sional sports leagues, it did not apply to
college football, which continued to be sub-
ject to the Sherman Act. See 15 U.S.C.
§ 1291. Like the NFL, the NCAA had a
long-standing restriction on televising
team games. See NCAA, 468 U.S. at 89-90,
104 S.Ct. 2948. Beginning in 1951, the
NCAA enforced procedures ensuring that
“only one game a week could be telecast in
each area, with a total blackout on 3 of the
10 Saturdays during the season,” and “[a]
team could appear on television only twice
during a season.” Id. at 90, 104 S.Ct. 2948.
The NCAA maintained this approach for
the next two decades.

Finally, in the 1980s, the NCAA’s ar-
rangement was challenged by colleges that
wanted to negotiate more lucrative televi-
sion deals for their popular football teams.
Id. at 90-91, 104 S.Ct. 2948. This challenge
resulted in the Supreme Court’s authorita-
tive opinion on the antitrust law of league
sports, National Collegiate Athletic Asso-
ciation v. Board of Regents of University
of Oklahoma, 468 U.S. 85, 104 S.Ct. 2948,
82 L.Ed.2d 70 (1984).

In NCAA, the Supreme Court struck
down the NCAA’s restrictive telecast
agreements as violating the Sherman Act.
According to the Court, “[bly participating
in an association which prevents member
institutions from competing against each
other on the basis of price or kind of
television rights that can be offered to
broadcasters, the NCAA member institu-
tions have created a horizontal restraint—
an agreement among competitors on the
way in which they will compete with one
another.” Id. at 99, 104 S.Ct. 2948. Such an
arrangement violated Section 1 of the
Sherman Act because “[i]ndividual compet-
itors lose their freedom to compete,” and
“[plrice is higher and output lower than
they would otherwise be, and both are
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unresponsive to consumer preference.” Id.
at 106-07, 104 S.Ct. 2948.

After NCAA, commentators documented
the changes caused by the increased com-
petition in college football telecasts. “With
conferences and teams now free to sign
their own deals, the number of televised
college football games grew exponentially.”
Nathaniel Grow, Regulating Professional
Sports Leagues, 72 Wash. & Lee L. Rev.
573, 617 (2015). Moreover, because college
football teams could compete “against one
another in the marketplace, broadcasters
collectively paly] half as much for the
rights to televise a larger number of
games than the NCAA had previously re-
ceived for its collective package.” Id. By
contrast, under the SBA, the NFL’s con-
trol over the pooled broadcasting rights
increased revenues from telecasting, see
Michael A. McCann, American Needle v.
NFL: An Opportunity to Reshape Sports
Law, 119 Yale L.J. 726, 732 (2010), while
decreasing the number of telecasts avail-
able to consumers, see Ariel Y. Bublick,
Note, Are You Ready for Some Football?,
64 Fed. Comm. L.J. 223, 231, 234-36
(2011).

While the NFL’s collective sale of tele-
cast rights to free, over-the-air television
networks was squarely covered by the
SBA, as television technology advanced,
from over-the-air to cable to satellite tele-
vision, the NFL and other professional
leagues began using new methods of dis-
tributing telecasts of the games.® In 1987,

3. Over-the-air television is conveyed by
“[blroadcast stations [that] radiate electro-
magnetic signals from a central transmitting
antenna.” Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. F.C.C.,
512 U.S. 622, 627, 114 S.Ct. 2445, 129
L.Ed.2d 497 (1994). 1t is free to “any televi-
sion set within the antenna’s range.” Id. Ca-
ble television, in contrast, typically relies
upon ‘“‘cable or optical fibers strung above-
ground or buried in ducts to reach the homes
or businesses of subscribers.” Id. at 628, 114
S.Ct. 2445. Satellite television providers deliv-

the NFL entered into its first cable deal,
selling the right to telecast eight Sunday
games to ESPN. See 8 F.C.C. Red. 4875,
4879. Beginning in 1994, the NFL entered
into an agreement with DirecTV, allowing
DirecTV to sell Sunday Ticket exclusively
through its satellite television service. Ba-
bette Boliek, Antitrust, Regulation, and
the “New” Rules of Sports Telecasts, 65
Hastings L.J. 501, 541 (2014).

[2] Courts considering challenges to
the telecasting arrangements between
sports leagues and satellite television ser-
vices have concluded that *‘sponsored
telecasting’ refers to broadcasts which are
financed by business enterprises (the
‘sponsors’) in return for advertising time
and are therefore provided free to the
general public.” Shaw v. Dallas Cowboys
Football Club, Ltd., 172 F.3d 299, 301 (3d
Cir. 1999). Therefore, the SBA does not
exempt league contracts with cable or sat-
ellite television services, for which sub-
scribers are charged a fee, from antitrust
liability. Id. at 303; see also Chicago Prof’l
Sports Ltd. P’ship v. Nat’l Basketball
Assn, 961 F.2d 667, 671 (Tth Cir. 1992)
(Bulls I) (holding that the SBA applies
when a league has transferred rights to
sponsored telecasting and therefore did
not apply to the NBA’s efforts to limit
distribution by the Bulls of their games on
a cable network); Chicago Profl Sports
Ltd. P’ship v. Nat'l Basketball Assn, 95
F.3d 593, 595 (7th Cir. 1996) (Bulls II)
(same); Kingray, Inc. v. NBA, Inc., 188 F.

er their “signals via satellite directly into its
customers’ homes.”” DirecTV, Inc. v. Webb,
545 F.3d 837, 841 (9th Cir. 2008). As with
“conventional radio and television broadcast-
ing, [satellite television] signals are broadcast
through the air and can be received—or inter-
cepted—by anyone with the proper hard-
ware.” Id. Because satellite signals could be
received by anyone with a satellite dish, satel-
lite providers typically “encrypt[] [their] sig-
nals to protect against signal theft.” Id.
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Supp. 2d 1177, 1183 (S.D. Cal. 2002)
(“‘Sponsored telecasting’” under the SBA
pertains only to network broadcast televi-
sion and does not apply to non-exempt
channels of distribution such as cable tele-
vision, pay-per-view, and satellite televi-
sion networks.”).

The current arrangements for cable
broadcasting of NFL games is as follows.
The 32 individual NFL teams, each of
which is a separate “independently owned,
and independently managed business,”
Am. Needle, 560 U.S. at 196, 130 S.Ct.
2201, entered into an agreement with the
NFL (“Teams-NFL Agreement”) to pool
their telecasting rights and give the NFL
the authority to exercise those rights, rath-
er than exercising those rights individual-
ly. The consequence of this agreement is
that an individual team cannot enter into
individual agreements with networks, sat-
ellite TV providers, or internet streaming
services. Instead, only the NFL can enter
into an agreement to sell those rights.

Acting on behalf of its teams, the NFL
entered into two additional agreements li-
censing the teams’ telecast rights: (1) “the
NFL-Network Agreement,” which governs
“local games,” and (2) “the NFL-DirecTV
Agreement,” which governs “out-of-market
games.”

Under the NFL-Network Agreement,
CBS and Fox coordinate to create a single
telecast for every Sunday-afternoon NFL
game. Pursuant to that agreement, NFL
owns the copyright in the telecasts. See,
e.g., U.S. Copyright Office, NFL 2016 Sea-
son: Cowboys @ Packers, Week #6, Reg.
No. PA0002069024 (Jan. 4, 2017) (noting
that copyright was held by the NFL pur-
suant to transfer “[bly contract”). The
NFL, in turn, permits CBS and Fox to
broadcast a limited number of games
through free, over-the-air television. These
are the so-called local games.

Under the NFL-DirecTV Agreement,
the NFL allows DirecTV to obtain all of

933 FEDERAL REPORTER, 3d SERIES

the live telecasts produced by CBS and
Fox, package those telecasts, and deliver
the bundled feeds to NFL Sunday Ticket
subscribers. Thus, Sunday Ticket subscrib-
ers have access to both local and out-of-
market games.

As a result of these agreements, fans
who do not subscribe to Sunday Ticket
have access to, at most, two to three local
games each Sunday afternoon, in any giv-
en geographic area. This means, for exam-
ple, that Los Angeles fans would be able to
use over-the-air cable to watch the Rams
play the Chargers at 1:00PM E.T. on Fox,
the Vikings play the Patriots at 1:00PM
E.T. on CBS, and the Dolphins play the
Cowboys at 4:00PM E.T. on CBS. But
there is no option for NFL fans to watch
any of the other 7 to 10 games played each
Sunday afternoon which are not available
on free, over-the-air television.

Fans who want to watch other out-of-
market games cannot purchase games in-
dividually or by team, but are required to
buy the entire package of NFL games.
Additionally, in order to subscribe to the
Sunday Ticket, consumers must also pur-
chase a basic television package from Di-
recTV. In 2015, the cost of a basic Sunday
Ticket package was $251.94 annually for
residential subscribers. For commercial
subscribers, the price varied depending on
the capacity of the establishment, ranging
from $2,314 to $120,000 per year.

II

Four plaintiffs (Ninth Inning, Inc., 1465
Third Avenue Restaurant Corp., Robert
Gary Lippincott, Jr., and Michael Holinko)
filed a consolidated complaint against the
National Football League, NFL Enter-
prises LLC, all 32 individual NFL teams,
DirecTV Holdings LLC, and DirecTV,
LLC, on behalf of a putative class of resi-
dential and commercial NFL Sunday Tick-
et subscribers. (Our reference to “plain-
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tiffs” refers to the plaintiffs collectively.
We will refer to the defendants collective-
ly, or as the NFL, the NFL teams, and
DirecTV, as appropriate.)

The plaintiffs’ consolidated complaint al-
leges that the defendants’ interlocking
agreements work together to suppress
competition for the sale of professional
football game telecasts in violation of Sec-
tion 1 and Section 2 of the Sherman Anti-
trust Act. Specifically, the complaint alleg-
es that absent the anti-competitive Teams-
NFL and NFL-DirecTV Agreements, the
telecasts broadcast solely on Sunday Tick-
et would be available through other dis-
tributors. Additionally, each NFL team
could make its own arrangements for tele-
casts of its games, and could contract with
competing distribution channels or media,
including other cable, satellite or internet
carriers or competing networks. As a re-
sult of competition, the complaint alleges, a
greater number of telecasts of NFL games
would be created, and those telecasts
would be more accessible to more viewers
at lower prices.

[3-5] The district court dismissed the
consolidated complaint for failure to state
a claim under either Section 1 or Section 2
of the Sherman Act. “We review a district
court’s grant of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to
dismiss for failure to state a claim de
novo.” Bain v. Cal. Teachers Ass'n, 891
F.3d 1206, 1211 (9th Cir. 2018). Additional-
ly, we “take all allegations of material fact
as true and construe them in the light
most favorable to the nonmoving party.”
Turner v. City & Cty. of S.F., 788 F.3d
1206, 1210 (9th Cir. 2015). However, “con-
clusory allegations of law and unwarranted
inferences are insufficient to avoid a Rule
12(b)(6) dismissal.” Cousins v. Lockyer,
568 F.3d 1063, 1067 (9th Cir. 2009) (inter-

4. The defendants argue, and the plaintiffs do
not dispute, that the NFL-Network Agreement
is covered by the SBA. But the parties do not
argue that the agreements at issue here are

nal quotation marks omitted). We examine
the district court’s dismissal of the Section
1 and Section 2 claims in turn.

It is significant here that the defendants
do not argue on appeal that the SBA ap-
plies to the Teams-NFL or NFL-DirecTV
Agreements. As the foregoing history indi-
cates, the NFL and the NFL teams’ early
decision to pool their telecast rights into a
single package and share broadcast reve-
nues was invalidated by Judge Grim as a
violation of the Sherman Act. NFL I, 116
F. Supp. at 329-30. The NFL recovered its
ability to enter into such pooling arrange-
ments only by the enactment of the SBA,
which offered the NFL and the NFL
teams an exemption from antitrust law.
See 15 U.S.C. § 1291. Because the defen-
dants do not argue that the SBA applies to
satellite broadcasting, we assume (without
deciding) that it is not applicable to the
Teams-NFL or NFL-DirecTV Agree-
ments. Accordingly, our analysis of the
complaint’s allegations regarding those
agreements is largely governed by the Su-
preme Court’s decision in NCAA, 468 U.S.
85, 104 S.Ct. 2948, 82 L.Ed.2d 70, which
analyzed a similar league sport broadecast-
ing arrangement under the Sherman Act,
without any applicable statutory exemp-
tion.*

ITI

Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits
“[elvery contract, combination in the form
of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in
restraint of trade or commerce among the
several States.” 15 U.S.C. § 1. Although on
its face, Section 1 appears to outlaw virtu-
ally all contracts, it has been interpreted
as “outlaw[ing] only unreasonable re-
straints” of trade. State Oil Co. v. Khan,

exempt from antitrust liability merely because
the NFL-Network Agreement has such immu-
nity.
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522 U.S. 3, 10, 118 S.Ct. 275, 139 L.Ed.2d
199 (1997).

[6-8] We determine whether a particu-
lar restraint of trade is unreasonable and
thus a violation of Section 1 under the so-
called “rule of reason.” Under this rule,
we examine “the facts peculiar to the busi-
ness, the history of the restraint, and the
reasons why it was imposed,” to determine
the effect on competition in the relevant
product market. Natl Soc’y of Profl
Eng’rs v. United States, 435 U.S. 679, 692,
98 S.Ct. 1355, 55 L.Ed.2d 637 (1978).

[9] “In order to state a Section 1 claim
under the rule of reason, plaintiffs must
plead four separate elements.” Brantley v.
NBC Universal, Inc., 675 F.3d 1192, 1197
(9th Cir. 2012). “[Pllaintiffs must plead
facts which, if true, will prove: (1) a con-
tract, combination or conspiracy among
two or more persons or distinet business
entities; (2) by which the persons or enti-
ties intended to harm or restrain trade or
commerce among the several States, or
with foreign nations; (3) which actually
injures competition.” Id. (internal quota-
tion marks and citations omitted). Addi-
tionally, the plaintiffs must plead antitrust
standing, meaning they must allege that
(4) they are the proper parties to bring the
antitrust action because they were harmed
by the defendants’ contract, combination,
or conspiracy, and the harm they suffered
was caused by the anti-competitive aspect
of the defendants’ conduct. Id.

5. Under antitrust law, some restraints of
trade, such as horizontal agreements among
competitors to fix prices, restrict output, and
divide markets, are generally deemed to be
per se unreasonable, and therefore it is un-
necessary to apply the rule of reason in order
to determine whether such agreements violate
Section 1. See In re Musical Instruments &
Equip. Antitrust Litig., 798 F.3d 1186, 1191
(9th Cir. 2015). Although this case concerns a
horizontal agreement, the Supreme Court has
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A

The defendants do not dispute that the
complaint adequately alleges that defen-
dants have contracts for the purpose of
restraining trade, the first and second ele-
ments. The defendants argue only that the
complaint does not adequately allege the
third and fourth elements of a Section 1
claim. We begin with the third element of
a Section 1 claim, whether plaintiffs have
adequately alleged that the restraint in-
jures competition.

[10-15]1 In order to satisfy this third
requirement, the plaintiffs must identify a
harm that is “attributable to an anticom-
petitive aspect of the practice under scruti-
ny.” Atl. Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleuwm
Co., 495 U.S. 328, 334, 110 S.Ct. 1884, 109
L.Ed.2d 333 (1990). A harm that could
have occurred under the normal circum-
stances of free competition fails to satisfy
this requirement. See Spectrum Sports,
Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 458, 113
S.Ct. 884, 122 L.Ed.2d 247 (1993). An
agreement between competitors (a hori-
zontal agreement) satisfies the require-
ment of showing injury to competition if it
reduces competitors’ independent decisions
about “whether and how often to offer to
provide services,” F.T.C. v. Superior Court
Trial Lawyers Assm, 493 U.S. 411, 422,
110 S.Ct. 768, 107 L.Ed.2d 851 (1990), or
fixes prices, United States v. Socony—Vac-
uum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223, 60 S.Ct.
811, 84 L.Ed. 1129 (1940), or otherwise
limits competitors’ “freedom to compete,”

concluded that the per se rule does not apply
to agreements involving teams engaged in
league sports, on the ground that such sports
“can only be carried out jointly.” NCAA, 468
U.S. at 101, 104 S.Ct. 2948 (quoting Bork,
The Antitrust Paradox 278 (1978)). Therefore,
when considering agreements among entities
involved in league sports, such as here, a
court must determine whether the restriction
is unreasonable under the rule of reason. Id.
at 103, 104 S.Ct. 2948.
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NCAA, 468 U.S. at 106, 104 S.Ct. 2948. In
order to show that an agreement injures
competition, a plaintiff must generally
show that the defendants have market
power within a relevant market, Newcal
Indus., Inc. v. Ikon Office Sol., 513 F.3d
1038, 1044 (9th Cir. 2008), meaning that
the defendants have “the ability to raise
prices above those that would be charged
in a competitive market,” NCAA, 468 U.S.
at 109 n.38, 104 S.Ct. 2948. Alternatively,
plaintiffs can show that a restraint injures
competition if they plausibly allege “a
naked restriction on price or output,” such
as “an agreement not to compete in terms
of price or output.” Id. at 109, 104 S.Ct.
2948. An agreement between companies at
different levels of a supply chain (a vertical
agreement) may injure competition if it
facilitates “horizontal collusion.” Brantley,
675 F.3d at 1198.

B

[16] In this case, the plaintiffs’ allega-
tions on their face adequately allege an
injury to competition. The interlocking
agreements at issue are similar to those
that have historically required an exemp-
tion from antitrust liability by the SBA:
they are “joint agreement[s]” whereby a
“league of clubs participating in profes-
sional football ... sells or otherwise trans-
fers all or any part of the rights of such
league’s member clubs” in the telecasting
of such games. 15 U.S.C. § 1291. This is
the exact type of arrangement that Judge
Grim concluded violated the Sherman
Act—and, more importantly, that the Su-
preme Court held caused an injury to com-
petition in the context of college football.
See NCAA, 468 U.S. at 104, 104 S.Ct. 2948.

Because we assume that the NFL’s in-
terlocking agreements are not protected
by the SBA, the Supreme Court’s decision
in NCAA controls our analysis. In that
case, the Supreme Court held that an
agreement among college football teams
and the NCAA violated Section 1 of the

Sherman Act because the agreement elimi-
nated competition in the market for college
football telecasts. See generally id. Here,
the interlocking agreements impose simi-
lar restrictions. First, the Supreme Court
noted in NCAA that the agreement at
issue “limits the total amount of televised
intercollegiate football and the number of
games that any one team may televise.”
Id. at 94, 104 S.Ct. 2948. The complaint
here alleges that the interlocking agree-
ments in this case impose analogous limita-
tions: plaintiffs assert that the Teams-
NFL and NFL-DirecTV Agreements limit
the “amount of televised [professional]
football” that one team may televise be-
cause they restrict the number of telecasts
made to a single telecast for each game.

Second, the Supreme Court noted that
the agreements in NCAA provided that
“[nJo member [college] is permitted to
make any sale of television rights except in
accordance with the basie plan.” Id. In our
case, plaintiffs allege that the NFL teams
are similarly restricted. Under the terms
of the Teams-NFL and NFL-DirecTV
Agreements, no individual NFL team is
permitted to sell its telecasting rights in-
dependently. Independent telecasts are
forbidden under the terms of the Agree-
ments because they would cause the teams
to compete with each other and with Di-
recTV. Just as the University of Oklahoma
was forbidden from increasing the number
of telecasts made of its games, so too are
the Seattle Seahawks forbidden from sell-
ing their telecast rights independently
from the NFL.

Third, in NCAA the Court concluded
that the agreement among the member
colleges was a horizontal agreement
among competitors because “the policies of
the NCAA with respect to television rights
are ultimately controlled by the vote of
member institutions.” Id. at 99, 104 S.Ct.
2948. The same type of agreement is al-
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leged here. According to the complaint, the
NFL members vote to approve the con-
tract between DirecTV and the NFL.
Therefore, the complaint adequately alleg-
es that the Teams-NFL Agreement is a
“horizontal  restraint—an  agreement
among competitors” that “places an artifi-
cial limit on the quantity of televised foot-
ball that is available [for sale] to broad-
casters and consumers.” Id.

Finally, NCAA held that the agreements
constituted a naked restriction on output,
and defined the relevant output to be “the
quantity of television rights available for
sale,” meaning “the total amount of tele-
vised intercollegiate football,” Id. at 94, 99,
104 S.Ct. 2948, as opposed to whether each
game was broadcast in some market at
some time. In our case, the complaint like-
wise alleges that the interlocking agree-
ments restrain the production and sale of
telecasts in a manner that constitutes “a
naked restriction” on the number of tele-
casts available for broadcasters and con-
sumers.

Because the complaint alleges that the
interlocking agreements in this case in-
volve the same sorts of restrictions that
NCAA concluded constituted an injury to
competition, we likewise conclude that the
complaint plausibly alleges an injury to
competition. Further, because the alleged
restrictions on the production and sale of
telecasts constitute “a naked restriction”
on the number of telecasts available for
broadcasters and consumers, the plaintiffs
were not required to establish a relevant
market. Id. at 109, 104 S.Ct. 2948.

The defendants make a number of argu-

ments against this conclusion. We consider
each in turn.

1

First, the defendants argue that under
In re Musical Instruments & Equipment
Antitrust Litigation, 798 F.3d 1186 (9th
Cir. 2015), it is necessary to analyze the
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horizontal NFL. Teams agreement sepa-
rately from the vertical NFL-DirecTV
agreement, and when viewed in that light,
the NFL-DirecTV agreement does not in-
jure competition because it is an exclusive
distribution agreement of the type that is
presumptively legal. We disagree. First,
Musical Instruments does not require a
court to break down an alleged conspiracy
into its constituent parts. Musical Instru-
ments merely explained the uncontrover-
sial principle that, in general, horizontal
agreements are analyzed under per se
rules, while vertical agreements are ana-
lyzed under the rule of reason. Id. at 1191-
92. But as noted above, both types of
agreements are analyzed under the rule of
reason in cases involving league sports.
NCAA, 468 U.S. at 101-03, 104 S.Ct. 2948.

[17-20] Contrary to the defendants’
argument, we are required to take a holis-
tic look at how the interlocking agree-
ments actually impact competition. See
Nat’l Socy. of Profl Eng’rs, 435 U.S. at
692, 98 S.Ct. 1355. Indeed, “the essential
inquiry” is “whether or not the challenged
restraint enhances competition,” which is
assessed by considering the totality of “the
nature or character of the contracts.”
NCAA, 468 U.S. at 103-04, 104 S.Ct. 2948
(quoting Nat’l Soc’y of Profl Eng’rs, 435
U.S. at 690, 98 S.Ct. 1355). Thus, the law
requires that the “character and effect of a
conspiracy are not to be judged by dis-
membering it and viewing its separate
parts, but only by looking at it as a whole.”
Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide &
Carbon Corp., 370 U.S. 690, 698-99, 82
S.Ct. 1404, 8 L.Ed.2d 777 (1962) (quoting
United States v. Patten, 226 U.S. 525, 544,
33 S.Ct. 141, 57 L.Ed. 333 (1913)). Accord-
ingly, we must give plaintiffs “the full ben-
efit of their proof without tightly compart-
mentalizing the various factual components
and wiping the slate clean after scrutiny of
each.” City of Long Beach v. Standard Oil
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Co., 872 F.2d 1401, 1404-05 (9th Cir. 1989),
opinion amended on denial of reh’y, 886
F.2d 246 (9th Cir. 1989) (quoting Conti-
nental Ore Co., 370 U.S. at 699, 82 S.Ct.
1404).

[21] Looking holistically at the alleged
conduct, we conclude that the complaint
adequately pleads that the vertical NFL-
DirecTV Agreement works in tandem with
the Teams-NFL agreement to restrain
competition. The Supreme Court has held
that a horizontal agreement among com-
petitors to pool separate property rights
and enter into an agreement to license
their rights vertically can constitute a Sec-
tion 1 violation. See Am. Needle, 560 U.S.
at 201, 130 S.Ct. 2201 (holding that an
agreement among the NFL and its mem-
ber teams to create an entity that jointly
licensed their separately owned intellectual
property constituted concerted action in
violation of the Sherman Act). Accordingly,
we reject the defendants’ argument that
we cannot view the effects of both the
horizontal and vertical agreements work-
ing together.

2

[22] Defendants further argue that
plaintiffs have failed to allege an injury to
competition because the production of the
telecasts necessarily requires joint action,
and therefore the restrictions are pro-com-
petitive. According to defendants, each
NFL game broadcast is a copyrighted
work jointly authored by the NFL, the two
competing teams, and the broadcast net-
work, and the agreement of all participants
is necessary in order to create the tele-
casts at all. Thus, defendants argue, the
Supreme Court’s decision in American
Needle is inapposite because that decision
concerned separately owned intellectual
property, id. at 187, 130 S.Ct. 2201, where-
as here, the telecasts could only be created
through cooperation between competitors.

We disagree. Defendants have failed to
identify, and we are unaware of, any bind-
ing precedent requiring the teams and the
NFL to cooperate in order to produce the
telecasts.

[23] Under copyright law, it is well-
established that the underlying NFL game
is not copyrightable subject matter. See
Dryer v. Nat'l Football League, 814 F.3d
938, 942 (8th Cir. 2016) (noting that
“courts have recognized that the initial
performance of a game is an ‘athletic
event’ outside the subject matter of copy-
right”); Nat’l Basketball Assn v. Motorola,
Inc, 105 F.3d 841, 846 (2d Cir. 1997)
(“NBA”) (“In our view, the underlying bas-
ketball games do not fall within the subject
matter of federal copyright protection be-
cause they do not constitute ‘original
works of authorship’” under 17 U.S.C.
§ 102(a).”).

[24] However, the telecasts of sporting
events are plainly copyrightable “motion
pictures” under the Copyright Act of 1976.
17 U.S.C. § 102(a)(6); NBA, 105 F.3d at
847 (“[R]Jecorded broadcasts of NBA
games—as opposed to the games them-
selves—are ... entitled to copyright pro-
tection.”). Indeed, “[t]he Copyright Act
was amended in 1976 specifically to insure
that simultaneously-recorded transmis-
sions of live performances and sporting
events would meet the Act’s requirement
that the original work of authorship be
‘fixed in any tangible medium of expres-
sion”” NBA, 105 F.3d at 847 (citing 17
U.S.C. § 102(a); H.R. Rep. No. 94-1476, at
52); see also Nat’l Football League v.
McBee & Bruno’s, Inc., 792 F.2d 726, 732
(8th Cir. 1986) (“[TThe legislative history
demonstrates a clear intent on the part of
Congress to ‘resolve, through the defini-
tion of “fixation” ... , the status of live
broadeasts,” using—coincidentally but not
insignificantly—the example of a live foot-
ball game.”).
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[25-27] Under general copyright law,
copyright ownership vests initially in the
author of the work, 17 U.S.C. § 201(a),
who, as a general rule, “is the party who
actually creates the work, that is, the per-
son who translates an idea into a fixed,
tangible expression entitled to copyright
protection.” See Cmty. for Creative Non-
Violence v. Reid, 490 U.S. 730, 737, 109
S.Ct. 2166, 104 L.Ed.2d 811 (1989). Thus,
in the absence of an agreement otherwise,
the person or company that creates the
telecast is the “author” of the telecast for
the purposes of copyright law. See id.; see
also Garcia v. Google, Inc., 786 F.3d 733,
744 (9th Cir. 2015) (en banc). Assuming
that this rule applies in the league sports
setting, the team or network that creates
the telecasts would be the sole owner of
the copyright in the telecasts, absent some
agreement to the contrary. See Reid, 490
U.S. at 737, 109 S.Ct. 2166; see also Balti-
more Orioles, Inc. v. Major League Base-
ball Players Assm, 805 F.2d 663, 668-69
(7th Cir. 1986) (“When a football game is
being covered by four television cameras,
with a director guiding the activities of the
four cameramen and choosing which of
their electronic images are sent to the
public and in which order, there is little
doubt that what the cameramen and the
director are doing constitutes ‘author-
ship.”” (internal quotation marks and cita-
tions omitted)).

In the absence of a legal requirement
that the NFL teams, NFL, and broadcast-
ers coordinate in filming and broadcasting
live games, the Los Angeles Rams (for
instance) could contract for their own tele-
cast of Rams games and then register the
telecasts for those games with the Rams
(and perhaps the team against whom they
are playing). Only the agreements that are
the subject of plaintiffs’ antitrust action
prevent such independent actions. Thus,
we reject the defendants’ argument that
American Needle, 560 U.S. at 190, 130
S.Ct. 2201, is inapposite; here, like in
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American Needle, the agreements not to
compete concern separately owned intel-
lectual property, and impose an unlawful
restraint on independent competition.

Indeed, the history of the NFL, as well
as the practice in other professional sports
leagues, supports our conclusion. As dis-
cussed above, prior to the passage of the
SBA, the telecast rights in NFL games
“were controlled by individual teams” and
NFL teams routinely licensed telecasts of
their games to television networks. U.S.
Football League, 842 F.2d at 1346. Indeed,
by the late 1950s, thirteen individual teams
had signed contracts with either CBS or
NBC and one team “had organized its own
network.” H.R. Rep. No. 93-483 at 4
(1973). Thus, the Supreme Court explained
that college football teams “are clearly
able to negotiate agreements with whatev-
er broadcasters they choose.” NCAA, 468
U.S. at 114 n.53, 104 S.Ct. 2948 (quoting
the district court, Bd. of Regents of Univ.
of Oklahoma v. Nat'l Collegiate Athletic
Ass’n, 546 F. Supp. 1276, 1307-08 (W.D.
Okla. 1982)). Further, after the decision in
NCAA, the NCAA teams arranged tele-
casting on their own. Grow, supra, T2
Wash. & Lee L. Rev. at 617. Additionally,
in comparable sports leagues, namely the
National Hockey League and Major
League Baseball, “each team owns the ini-
tial right to control telecasts of its home
games.” Laumann v. NHL, 907 F. Supp.
2d 465, 473, 485 (S.D.N.Y. 2012); see also
New Boston Television, Inc. v. ESPN, No.
81-1010-Z, 1981 WL 1374, at *1 (D. Mass.
Aug. 3, 1981) (“The copyright of the tele-
plays of all Red Sox games is owned by
the Red Sox.”). And in another form of
media, radio broadcasting, plaintiffs allege
that the NFL Teams already negotiate
individual radio broadcasting contracts.

Therefore, we reject defendants’ argu-
ment that the complaint fails to allege a
Section 1 violation because the telecasts
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can be created only through cooperation
among competitors.

3

[28] Defendants next assert that plain-
tiffs’ complaint failed to allege injury to
competition because the NFL-DirecTV
agreement did not reduce the output of
NFL game broadcasts. From the supply
side, defendants argue, every regular sea-
son NFL game is broadcast over free tele-
vision in some geographic area, and there-
fore, the entire potential supply of NFL
game broadcasts is produced and distribut-
ed to the public. From the demand side,
defendants argue, NFL broadcasts receive
the most views of any sports league; 202.3
million unique viewers watched an NFL
football game in 2014.

We disagree that the defendants’ defini-
tion of output is the only permissible defi-
nition for purposes of determining whether
plaintiffs have stated a claim. As noted
above, NCAA indicated that the relevant
output is “the total amount of televised
intercollegiate football,” available to con-
sumers. 468 U.S. at 94, 104 S.Ct. 2948. We
therefore reject the defendants’ argument
that because all NFL Sunday-afternoon
games are broadcast somewhere, there is
no limitation on output as a matter of law.

The complaint alleges that defendants
have limited output by restricting the
quantity of telecasts available for sale, and
that the NFL has set a uniform quantity
of telecasts of football games—one per
game—with no regard to the actual con-
sumer demand for the telecasts. The plain-
tiffs plausibly allege that “if member insti-
tutions were free to sell television rights,
many more games would be shown,” 468
U.S. at 105, 104 S.Ct. 2948, because an
individual NFL team would “be free to sell
the right to televise its games for whatever
price it could get.” Id. at 106 n.30, 104
S.Ct. 2948 (quoting the district court’s
findings, 546 F. Supp. at 1318). “The prices

would vary for the games, with games
between prominent [NFL teams] drawing
a larger price than games between less
prominent [NFL teams].” Id. (quoting the
district court’s findings, 546 F. Supp. at
1318). We conclude that for purposes of
determining whether plaintiffs have stated
an injury to competition, the plaintiffs have
plausibly alleged that the output in this
case is the number of telecasts of games,
and that the defendants’ interlocking
agreements reduce that output.

4

[29,30] Finally, defendants claim that
the complaint fails to allege injury to com-
petition because it has not alleged a prop-
erly defined market in which defendants
have market power. Defendants argue that
the complaint failed to plausibly allege that
they have market power in either the mar-
ket for live video presentations of regular
season NFL games or the submarket for
out-of-market game broadcasts. We reject
these arguments. Given that professional
football games have no substitutes (as fans
do not consider NFL games to be compa-
rable to other sports or forms of entertain-
ment), see L.A. Mem’l Coliseum Comm’n
v. Nat'l Football League, 726 F.2d 1381,
1393 (9th Cir. 1984), the defendants in this
case have effective control over the entire
market for telecasts of professional foot-
ball games. The complaint therefore plau-
sibly alleges a naked restraint on output:
that the defendants’ interlocking agree-
ments have the effect of limiting output to
one telecast of each game, which is then
broadcast in a limited manner, solely ac-
cording to the NFL’s agreements with
CBS, Fox, and DirecTV. When there is
such an agreement not to compete in
terms of output, “no elaborate industry
analysis is required to demonstrate the
anticompetitive character of such an agree-
ment.” NCAA, 468 U.S. at 109, 104 S.Ct.
2948 (quoting Nat’l Soc’y of Profl Eng’rs,
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435 U.S. at 692, 98 S.Ct. 1355). Here, as in
NCAA, “an observer with even a rudimen-
tary understanding of economics could
conclude that the arrangements in ques-
tion would have an anticompetitive effect
on customers and markets.” Cal. Dental
Ass'n v. F.T.C., 526 U.S. 756, 770, 119
S.Ct. 1604, 143 L.Ed.2d 935 (1999). Be-
cause the complaint adequately alleged
that the defendants have imposed “a naked
restriction” on output, it has not failed to
allege market power. NCAA, 468 U.S. at
109, 104 S.Ct. 2948.

We conclude that the complaint ade-
quately alleges the element of injury to
competition by alleging that the interlock-
ing Teams-NFL and NFL-DirecTV Agree-
ments injure competition.

C

[31-34] Defendants next argue that
the plaintiffs lack antitrust standing to
challenge the Teams-NFL Agreement.® To
plead the fourth element, antitrust stand-
ing or antitrust injury, plaintiffs must al-
lege that they were harmed by the injury
to competition. Brantley, 675 F.3d at 1197.
Further, plaintiffs must allege that their
harm was caused directly by the antitrust
violator. See Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois,
431 U.S. 720, 746, 97 S.Ct. 2061, 52
L.Ed.2d 707 (1977). In Illinois Brick, the
Supreme Court incorporated “principles of
proximate cause” into an action for viola-
tion of the Sherman Act, holding “that
mdirect purchasers who are two or more
steps removed from the violator in a distri-
bution chain may not sue.” Apple Inc. v.
Pepper, — U.S. ——, 139 S. Ct. 1514,
1520-21, 203 L.Ed.2d 802 (2019). The Su-
preme Court reasoned that allowing every

6. There is no dispute that the plaintiffs have
standing to challenge the NFL-DirecTV
Agreement because they are direct purchasers
of DirecTV. Nor is there a dispute that the
plaintiffs have standing to seek injunctive re-
lief based on the Teams-NFL Agreement be-
cause ‘‘indirect purchasers are not barred
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purchaser in a distribution chain to claim
damages flowing from a single antitrust
violation “would create a serious risk of
multiple liability for defendants.” Illinois
Brick, 431 U.S. at 730, 97 S.Ct. 2061. The
Court also wanted to avoid “the evidentia-
ry complexities and uncertainties” that
would be “multiplied in the offensive use of
pass-on by a plaintiff several steps re-
moved from the defendant in the chain of
distribution.” Id. at 732, 97 S.Ct. 2061.
Accordingly, Illinoits Brick “established a
bright-line rule that authorizes suits by
direct purchasers but bars suits by indi-
rect purchasers.” Pepper, 139 S. Ct. at
1521. Said otherwise, “purchasers who are
two or more steps removed from the anti-
trust violator in a distribution chain may
not sue.” Id. To illustrate, under this rule,
if “manufacturer A sells to retailer B, and
retailer B sells to consumer C, then C may
not sue A.” Id. However, “C may sue B if
B is an antitrust violator.” Id.

[35-37] These “principles of proximate
cause,” id. at 1520, apply differently when
the injury to plaintiffs is caused by a multi-
level conspiracy to violate antitrust laws.
We first considered this issue in Arizona
v. Shamrock Foods Co., 729 F.2d 1208 (9th
Cir. 1984). In that case, a class of consum-
ers brought an antitrust action against
dairy producers and grocery stores, alleg-
ing they had jointly conspired to fix the
price of dairy products at the retail level.
Id. at 1211. Because the consumers alleged
a price-fixing conspiracy implicating both
the dairy producers and the grocery retail-
ers, we concluded the plaintiffs’ claim was
not barred. Id. at 1210. Under the princi-
ples of Illinois Brick, we reasoned that the

from bringing an antitrust claim for injunc-
tive relief against manufacturers.” Lucas
Auto. Eng’g, Inc. v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc.,
140 F.3d 1228, 1235 (9th Cir. 1998). The
dissent agrees on these points, as well. Dis-
sent at 1160 n.2.
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plaintiffs’ injuries were caused by the con-
spiracy itself (the concerted action of the
dairy producers and grocery retailers), and
thus the case did not require calculating
the pass-through effects of an indirect in-
jury or raise the risk of duplicative dam-
age claims. Id. at 1213-14; see also In re
ATM Fee Antitrust Litig., 686 F.3d 741,
750 (9th Cir. 2012). As we subsequently
explained, “[i]f the direct purchaser con-
spires to fix the price paid by the plaintiffs,
then the plaintiffs pay the fixed price di-
rectly and are not indirect purchasers (i.e.,
there is no pass-on theory involved).” In re
ATM Fee Antitrust Latig., 686 F.3d at 750.
In other words, when co-conspirators have
jointly committed the antitrust violation, a
plaintiff who is the immediate purchaser
from any of the conspirators is directly
injured by the violation. See Pepper, 139 S.
Ct. at 1522.

[38] Here, the plaintiffs allege that Di-
recTV has conspired with the NFL and
the NFL teams. According to the com-
plaint, the conspiracy involves both the
Teams-NFL agreement and the NFL-Di-
recTV agreement, which work together as
a single conspiracy to limit the output of
NFL telecasts. This output limitation in
turn results in prices for out-of-market
games being higher than they would be in
the absence of the conspiracy. Because, as
in Shamrock Foods, the complaint alleges
that plaintiffs’ injuries were proximately

7. The dissent argues that our holding would
require the complex damages calculations
that the rule in Illinois Brick was intended to
avoid. Dissent at 1160. In Illinois Brick, the
Court expressed concern that the judicial sys-
tem would be too burdened if it had to deter-
mine how much of the antitrust violator’s
overcharge to the first purchaser was passed
on to the second, third, or fourth purchasers
in the distribution chain. 431 U.S. at 733
n.13, 97 S.Ct. 2061 (“[T]he final purchaser
still will have to trace the overcharge through
each step in the distribution chain.”). But
those sorts of calculations are not required in

caused by a single conspiracy, their com-
plaint does not require calculating the
pass-through effects of an indirect injury
or raise a risk of claims for duplicative
harms. See 729 F.2d at 1213-14.7 Even
though DirecTV is the immediate seller to
the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs’ allegation that
they were directly injured by the conspira-
cy among the NFL teams, the NFL, and
DirecTV is sufficient to allege antitrust
standing for purposes of surviving a mo-
tion to dismiss. See Pepper, 139 S. Ct. at
1521.

[39] The defendants argue (and the
dissent agrees) that the plaintiffs do not
have standing to challenge the Teams-
NFL Agreement because In re ATM Anti-
trust Fee Litigation limited the co-conspir-
ator exception to Illinois Brick to cases
where an indirect purchaser “establishes a
price-fixing conspiracy between the manu-
facturer and the middleman.” Id. at 749.
Because the conspiracy in this case in-
volved an output restriction, defendants
argue, Illinois Brick applies and precludes
the plaintiffs from challenging an agree-
ment that did not affect them directly.
This argument misunderstands ATM Anti-
trust Fee Litigation. As we explained, the
“co-conspirator exception is not really an
exception at all,” but rather describes a
situation in which Illinots Brick is simply
not applicable. Id. at 750. Because the

this context. Unlike the situation in Illinois
Brick, the plaintiffs here do not allege that an
innocent middleman has passed through
damages caused by a higher-level antitrust
violator. Because plaintiffs allege that Di-
recTV is part of the conspiracy, DirecTV di-
rectly caused the injury to the consumers.
Thus, to calculate the plaintiffs’ damages, a
court would not need to determine to what
extent the NFL overcharged DirecTV; it
would need to consider only the prices con-
sumers paid compared to the prices that
would have existed in a competitive market.
See Los Angeles Mem’l Coliseum Comm’n, 791
F.2d at 1367.
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conspiracy alleged in ATM Awntitrust Fee
Litigation was a price-fixing conspiracy,
we analyzed that sort of conspiracy, and
held Illinots Brick did not apply because
“[ilf the direct purchaser conspires to fix
the price paid by the plaintiffs, then the
plaintiffs pay the fixed price directly and
are not indirect purchasers.” Id.®

[40] Although ATM Antitrust Fee Lit-
1gation focused on an alleged price fixing
conspiracy, its reasoning is equally applica-
ble to an output-restriction conspiracy,
such as the situation here: if the direct
purchaser conspires to limit the output
that will ultimately be available to the
plaintiffs, then the plaintiffs are directly
impacted by the output limitation and have
standing to sue. See Pepper, 139 S. Ct. at
1521. In other words, under our caselaw,
when plaintiffs adequately allege that their
injury was caused by a conspiracy to vio-
late antitrust laws, even when the conspir-
acy involves multiple levels of producers,
distributors, and sales, the plaintiffs suffi-
ciently allege an antitrust injury that can
withstand a motion to dismiss.

[41,42] Defendants argue that we
should distinguish between price-fixing
and output-restricting conspiracies, but
provide no reasoned basis for doing so.”
Nor can they, because the Supreme Court
has concluded that price-fixing conspira-
cies are functionally indistinguishable from
output-restricting conspiracies. See Cal.
Dental Assn, 526 U.S. at 777, 119 S.Ct.
1604. As the Supreme Court explained,
“[aln agreement on output also equates to
a price-fixing agreement,” because “[i]f
firms raise price, the market’s demand for
their product will fall, so the amount sup-

8. Our analysis of ATM Antitrust Fee Litigation
accords with the Supreme Court’s instruction
that in a distribution chain where “manufac-
turer A sells to retailer B, and retailer B sells
to consumer C, ... C may sue B if B is an
antitrust violator.” Pepper, 139 S. Ct. at 1521.
Because this rule applies so long as B is an
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plied will fall too—in other words, output
will be restricted.” Id. (internal quotations
omitted). On the other hand, “[ilf instead
the firms restrict output directly, price will
as mentioned rise in order to limit demand
to the reduced supply.” Id. (internal quota-
tions omitted). Accordingly, the Supreme
Court noted, “with exceptions not relevant
here, raising price, reducing output, and
dividing markets have the same anticom-
petitive effects.” Id. (internal quotations
omitted). A conspiracy between a cartel of
widget producers and their widget retailer
to set an artificially high price for widgets
is functionally the same as a conspiracy to
set an artificially low total output of widg-
ets, which causes prices to rise. See id.
Therefore, the consumer of widgets would
be directly injured by the antitrust viola-
tors at both levels of the distribution chain
and would have standing to sue those co-
conspirators in both scenarios. See Pepper,
139 S. Ct. at 1521.

Accordingly, we conclude that Illinois
Brick is not applicable here because the
complaint adequately alleges that DirecTV
conspired with the NFL and the NFL
Teams to limit the production of telecasts
to one per game, and that plaintiffs suf-
fered antitrust injury due to this conspira-
cy to limit output.

v

[43,44] We now turn to the question
whether the complaint adequately alleges
a violation of Section 2 of the Sherman
Act. Section 2 makes it unlawful for any
person to “monopolize, or attempt to mo-
nopolize, or combine or conspire with any
other person or persons, to monopolize any

antitrust violator, it is irrelevant whether B is
engaged in a price-fixing or an output-re-
stricting conspiracy. See id.

9. The dissent echoes this argument, see Dis-
sent at 1160 n. 3, but likewise fails to explain
a reasoned basis for such a distinction.
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part of the trade or commerce among the
several States, or with foreign nations
....7 15 U.S.C. § 2. Plaintiffs allege two
forms of Section 2 violations, a conspiracy
to monopolize claim and a monopolization
claim. To establish a conspiracy to monop-
olize claim under Section 2, plaintiffs must
plead: “(1) the existence of a combination
or conspiracy to monopolize; (2) an overt
act in furtherance of the conspiracy; (3)
the specific intent to monopolize; and (4)
causal antitrust injury.” Paladin Assocs.,
Inc. v. Mont. Power Co., 328 F.3d 1145,
1158 (9th Cir. 2003). To plausibly plead a
monopolization claim, plaintiffs must al-
lege: “(a) the possession of monopoly pow-
er in the relevant market; (b) the willful
acquisition or maintenance of that power;
and (c) causal antitrust injury.” Somers v.
Apple, Inc., 729 F.3d 953, 963 (9th Cir.
2013) (quoting Allied Orthopedic Appli-
ances Inc. v. Tyco Health Care Grp. LP,
592 F.3d 991, 998 (9th Cir. 2010)).1°

[45] Plaintiffs allege that by entering
into interlocking agreements, the defen-
dants conspired to monopolize the market
for professional football telecasts and have
monopolized it. Defendants argue that the
complaint fails to state a claim for the
same reason that the Section 1 claim fails:
plaintiffs have failed to allege injury to
competition or a properly defined relevant
market. Defendants also claim that plain-
tiffs have failed to allege that the defen-
dants had the specific intent to monopolize
a relevant market.

We reject this argument. For the rea-
sons explained above, plaintiffs have ade-
quately alleged injury to competition, and
have adequately alleged that defendants
have market power in the market for pro-
fessional football telecasts. Moreover, the
complaint adequately alleges that the in-

10. By its terms, the SBA applies only to Sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act and has no rele-
vance to the plaintiffs’ Section 2 claims. 15
U.S.C.§1291.

terlocking NFL-Team and NFL-DirecTV
agreements were designed to maintain
market power, which is sufficient to allege
defendants’ specific intent. Accordingly, we
conclude that the complaint adequately al-
leges a Section 2 violation.

REVERSED.

SMITH, N.R., Circuit Judge, dissenting
from Part ITI(C) of the Majority’s
opinion *

The Majority concludes that the direct
purchaser rule articulated in Illinois Brick
Co. v. Illinots, 431 U.S. 720, 97 S.Ct. 2061,
52 L.Ed.2d 707 (1977) does not apply to
Plaintiffs’ damages claim related to the
Teams-NFL Agreement, because Plaintiffs
have alleged a conspiracy among Defen-
dants to limit output. Maj. Op. at 1156-59.
Because this conclusion is controverted by
Supreme Court and Ninth Circuit caselaw,
I cannot agree.

In Illinois Brick, the Supreme Court
articulated the direct purchaser rule,
which instructs that “indirect purchasers
may not use a pass-on theory to recover
damages [on an anti-trust claim] and thus
have no standing to sue.” Brennan v. Con-
cord EFS, Inc. (In re ATM Fee Antitrust
Litig.), 686 F.3d 741, 748 (9th Cir. 2012)
(citing Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at 74546,
97 S.Ct. 2061). The Court created this rule
to alleviate the concern that pass-on theo-
ries of recovery would require courts to
“tracle] a wholesale overcharge through
an intermediary and allocat[e] the retail
price between an unlawful wholesale over-
charge and market forces.”Arizona .
Shamrock Foods Co., 729 F.2d 1208, 1214
(9th Cir. 1984); Illinois Brick, 431 U.S. at
737, 97 S.Ct. 2061 (“[TThe use of pass-on
theories ... essentially would transform
[damages] actions into massive efforts to

*1 concur in the rest of the Majority’s opinion.
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apportion the recovery among all potential
plaintiffs that could have absorbed part of
the overcharge from direct purchasers to
middlemen to ultimate consumers. Howev-
er appealing this attempt to allocate the
overcharge might seem in theory, it would
add whole new dimensions of complexity
to [damages] suits and seriously under-
mine their effectiveness.”).

The rule has an exception: where a
plaintiff alleges a price-fixing conspiracy
between a manufacturer and the direct
purchaser. We refer to this exception as
the “co-conspirator exception.” In re ATM
Fee Antitrust Litig., 686 F.3d at 750. With
a price-fixing conspiracy, “[t]he injury suf-
fered by the [consumer] through the effec-
tuation of a voluntary co-conspiracy [to fix
the consumer price] can be determined by
computing the retail price of [the product]
but-for the alleged price fix, and subtract-
ing that total from the actual purchase
price.” Shamrock Foods Co., 729 F.2d at
1214 (quoting In re Mid-Atlantic Toyota
Antitrust Litig., 516 F. Supp. 1287, 1295
(D. Md. 1981)). In other words, where
there is a price-fixing conspiracy, the court
need not engage in a complex damages
calculation, because the overcharge “was
not passed on to the consumers through
any other level in the distribution chain.”
Id.

In our case, Plaintiffs’ challenge to the
horizontal agreement among the NFL

1. If DirecTV did not overpay the NFL, then
consumers have not been damaged by the
NFL'’s horizontal agreement. Under those cir-
cumstances, any arbitrary inflation in the
price set by DirecTV could not have stemmed
from that agreement, but must stem from
some other source.

2. On the other hand, Plaintiffs are correct in
asserting that, notwithstanding the direct pur-
chaser rule, they “have standing to challenge
the agreements between the teams and the
league” for injunctive relief. Freeman v. San
Diego Ass’n of Realtors, 322 F.3d 1133, 1145
(9th Cir. 2003) (“Illinois Brick doesn’t apply
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Teams is unquestionably based on a pass-
on theory of injury, and the co-conspirator
exception does not apply. After all, Plain-
tiffs have not alleged that the NFL Teams
set, or conspired to set, the actual price
paid by any consumers. Instead, they al-
lege only that DirecTV has set an artifi-
cially high consumer price—an allegation
that would require the court to determine
whether the payment DirecTV made to the
NFL for the telecast rights was an over-
payment,! how much of an overpayment it
was (relative to what DirecTV would have
had to pay had the NFL Teams not agreed
to pool all of their broadcast rights), and
how much of that overpayment was actual-
ly then passed on to the consumers. Thus,
Plaintiffs’ claim for damages stemming
from the alleged horizontal agreement
among the NFL Teams would require the
very analysis prohibited by the Illinois
Brick rule. That claim fails.?

The Majority disagrees, claiming that,
because Plaintiffs have alleged a conspira-
cy between the manufacturer and the dis-
tributor to restrict output, the Illinois
Brick rule is inapplicable. Maj. Op. at 1159.
The Majority’s theory creates problems for
three reasons.

First, this court has already rejected the
Majority’s notion that the Illinois Brick
rule does not apply when an alleged con-
spiracy has the same anti-competitive ef-
fect as fixing the consumer price.® See In

to equitable relief.”). Thus, because Plaintiffs
seek injunctive relief in addition to their dam-
ages requests, their claim challenging the
NFL Teams’ horizontal Agreement is not en-
tirely precluded by the direct purchaser rule.

3. The Majority claims that a distinction be-
tween price-fixing and output-fixing restric-
tions is foreclosed by California Dental As-
sociation. Maj. Op. at 1158 (citing Cal.
Dental Ass'm v. FTC, 526 U.S. 756, 777,
119 S.Ct. 1604, 143 L.Ed.2d 935 (1999)).
However, California Dental Association does
not discuss the Illinois Brick rule or the
distinction between indirect and direct pur-
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re ATM Fee Antitrust Litig., 686 F.3d at
753 (rejecting an argument that Illinois
Brick did not apply because “conspiring to
set a [pre-market] price for the purpose
and effect of raising the [market] price . ..
equates to fixing [the market] price and
makes the payers of the raised [market]
price direct purchasers.” (emphasis add-
ed)). It simply does not matter that the
alleged pre-market conspiracy has the
same effect as setting a specific market
price. Id. at T752. Similarly, it does not
matter that the ultimate consumers “are
purchasing from a violator” of the Sher-
man Act. Id. at 755. As long as a party
challenging anti-competitive behavior re-
lies on a pass-on theory of injury, it may
recover damages only if it alleges and
demonstrates a conspiracy that actually
sets the consumer price—not just a con-
spiracy that may have the same practical
effect. Id. at 754 (“[U]nder the co-conspira-
tor exception recognized in this circuit, the

chasers. See generally 526 U.S. 756, 119
S.Ct. 1604, 143 L.Ed.2d 935. Instead, that
case stands only for the uncontested propo-
sition that a conspiracy to price fix and a
conspiracy to restrict output both injure
consumers by arbitrarily raising the price
they pay for a product—i.e., both types of
conspiracy have the same anticompetitive
effects. Id. at 777. That says nothing about
whether a particular consumer’s injury is
direct or indirect, or which consumers are
authorized to seek judicial redress (i.e.,
which consumers do not rely on a pass-on
theory of injury). Indeed, in Illinois Brick
itself, the Court acknowledged that the indi-
rect purchasers were injured by the manu-
facturer overcharging the distributor, but
held that those purchasers were not the
proper parties to sue to recover damages.
431 U.S. at 744-46, 97 S.Ct. 2061.

The Majority’s reliance on Apple Inc. v.
Pepper, is likewise misplaced, as the plaintiffs
in that case purchased the relevant good di-
rectly from the monopolizing entity—not from
a middleman who conspired with the mono-
polizing entity down the line. — U.S. —,
139 S. Ct. 1514, 1521, 203 L.Ed.2d 802
(2019). Here, Plaintiffs purchased a service

price paid by a plaintiff must be set by the
conspiracy and not merely affected by the
setting of another price.”).

Second, the conspiracy alleged by Plain-
tiffs—that Defendants conspired to reduce
the output of television broadcast rights—
does not alleviate the concerns expressed
in Illinots Brick. Unlike a price-fixing con-
spiracy, the injury to the consumer from
an output-reduction conspiracy still de-
pends on a pass-on theory of damages. The
initial overcharge occurs between the man-
ufacturer and the distributer—i.e., a dis-
tributor pays a manufacturer an anticom-
petitive price for distribution rights—and
that overcharge is passed on by the dis-
tributor to the consumer. In such cases,
courts must determine how much of the
consumer price stems from ordinary mar-
ket forces, and how much of it stems from
the distributor’s efforts to recoup its over-
payment to the manufacturer.* See Illinois
Brick, 431 U.S. at 74446, 97 S.Ct. 2061.

from DirecTV, which is not a party to the
NFL’s horizontal agreement. While the Ma-
jority is correct that “we are required to take
a holistic look at how the interlocking agree-
ments actually impact competition,” Maj. Op.
at 1152, determining whether a party has
alleged anti-competitive effects is distinct
from determining whether the party is a di-
rect or indirect purchaser with respect to a
specific agreement—and none of the cases
cited by the majority say otherwise, or even
address that issue.

4. Relying exclusively on the fact that Plaintiffs
“allege that DirecTV is part of the conspira-
cy,” the Majority conclusively states that “a
court would not need to determine to what
extent the NFL overcharged DirecTV,” be-
cause ‘it would need to consider only the
prices consumers paid compared to the prices
that would have existed in a competitive mar-
ket.” Maj. Op. at 1157 n. 7. However, it is
unclear how in practice a court could consid-
er what the theoretical consumer price would
have been in a competitive market (absent the
NFL'’s horizontal agreement) without consid-
ering whether and how much of an overpay-
ment DirecTV made.
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Thus, unlike with a price-fixing conspiracy,
the reviewing court must still make the
exact determination “sought to be avoided
in Illinois Brick.” Shamrock Foods Co.,
729 F.2d at 1214.

Finally, in In re ATM Fee Antitrust
Litigation, we ruled that the co-conspira-
tor exception “only applies when the co-
conspirators fix the price paid by the
plaintiff.” 686 F.3d at 752 (emphasis add-
ed). Thus, because Plaintiffs have not al-
leged that Defendants conspired to fix the
price paid by the consumer, the co-conspir-
ator exception—at least in its present
form—does not apply. See Dickson v. Mi-
crosoft Corp., 309 F.3d 193, 215 (4th Cir.
2002) (“[Wle interpret these cases as
standing for the more narrow proposition
that Illinots Brick is inapplicable to a par-
ticular type of conspiracy—price-fixing
conspiracies.” (emphasis added)); In re
ATM Fee Antitrust Litig., 686 F.3d at 752
(approving of the Fourth Circuit’s analysis
in Dickson). In other words, to conclude
that Plaintiffs have anti-trust standing, we
must create a new exception to the Illinois
Brick rule. The Supreme Court has in-
structed us not to do so. Kansas v. Utili-
Corp United, Inc., 497 U.S. 199, 216, 110
S.Ct. 2807, 111 L.Ed.2d 169 (1990) (“[AJm-
ple justifications exist for the Court’s stat-
ed decision not to carve out exceptions to
the indirect purchaser rule for particular
types of markets.” (quoting Illinois Brick,
431 U.S. at 744, 97 S.Ct. 2061)); Illinois
Brick, 431 U.S. at 745, 97 S.Ct. 2061 (“As
we have noted ... Hanover Shoe itself
implicitly discouraged the creation of ex-
ceptions to its rule barring pass-on [theo-
ries], and we adhere to the narrow scope
of exemption indicated by our decision
there.”).
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Background: Defendant was convicted,
after a jury trial in the United States
District Court for the District of Oregon,
Ann L. Aiken, J., of fraudulently obtaining
Social Security, Medicaid, and food-stamp
benefits to which he was not entitled. At
sentencing, the Court entered a personal
money judgment against defendant in an
amount corresponding to the proceeds of
his offenses. He appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Watford,
Circuit Judge, held that Court of Appeals
was not free to overrule three of its prior
decisions.

Affirmed.

1. Courts &96(3)

Court of Appeals, sitting as a three-
judge panel on appeal of sentencing deci-
sion which entered a criminal forfeiture
order, in the form of a personal money
judgment against defendant in an amount
corresponding to the proceeds of his fraud
offenses, was not free to overrule three
decisions in which the Court had previous-
ly held that such personal money judg-
ments were permissible; Court’s previous
decisions were not clearly irreconcilable
with the reasoning or holding of the Su-
preme Court’s reasoning or holding in Ho-
neycutt v. United States, — U.S. ——,



